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Date: 22 February 2025

Report of the Board of Directors of Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments
Company PSC , on the Financial Results of the vear ended 31 Dec , 2024

It gives me great pleasure on behalf of myself and on behalf of the Board of Directors to welcome you
and I am pleased to review a brief of the performance of the company during the year 2024 . This Report
represents the Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company's performance for the year 2024 . The
company recorded a net Profit of AED 25,399,353 during the year 2024 compared to a net Profit of
AED 26,966,864 during the comparative period of 2023 , summary of these results are as follows :

Particular | Year ended Year ended
Dec., 31,2024 Dec.,31,2023
AED AED
Net Profits from Investments 32,507,363 35,138,070
Administrative expense (3,780,446) (4,523,726)
Finance Costs (2,782,709) (3,647,480)
Net profit for the period AFTER TAX FO 25.399.353 26,966,864
THE YEAR 2024
Total assets 717,003,599 698,999,298
Total Shareholder’s equity 653,948,780 610,521,053

From the table above, it is clear that the company achieved a net profit of AED 25,399,353 for the year
2024 after tax, compared to a net profit of AED 26,966,864 in the previous year 2023 (before the
implementation of corporate tax). The returns received from cash dividend distributions increased from
AED 21,849,984 in 2023 to AED 25,070,799 in 2024, reflecting an increase of AED 3.220.815. The
company also made a profit from the sale of investments amounting to AED 1,220,691 for the year
2024, compared to AED 6,830,397 in 2023. Additionally, the company achieved a profit of AED
6,215,873 from the fair value revaluation of investments through profit and loss for the year 2024,

compared to AED 6,457,689 in 2023,
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The slight relative decline in net profit is attributed to the application of the corporate tax, with the
company being subject to a 9% tax on its net profits, which is estimated at 544,855 AED for the year
2024. Additionally, there was a slight decrease in the market value differences of the trading stocks
compared to the 2023 figures, which is offset by the increase in dividends received from local and
Gulf investment portfolios. Moreover, Umm Al-Quwain Public Investments Company managed to
achieve a good return on its net operating profits during the year.

It is worth mentioning that the company, at the end of the fiscal year, holds an investment portfolio
in financial securities through profits or losses valued at 268,198,423 AED, and a portfolio of
financial securities at fair value through other comprehensive income valued at 233,980,272 AED,

with a total of 502,178,695 AED. In addition, the company holds an investment property (a piece of
land) valued at 213 million AED.

Proposed Dividends :

The Board of Directors proposes the allocation and distribution of net profits for the year ended
as follows: December 31, 2024

AED

Net Profit for the Year 2024. 25,399,353
10% transferred to the legal reserve. (2,939.,935)
Net profit for the year after deducting the reserve. 22,859,418
Retained earnings balance available for dividend 80,679,548
Proposed cash dividend (21,780,000)
Bonus proposed for members of the Board of Directors. (1,350,000)
Retained earnings balance after the proposed distribution 57,549,548

Last but not least the Board of Directors is pleased to take this opportunity to extend our deepest thanks
and appreciation to HH Sheikh Saud bin Rashid Al Mualla, Supreme Council Member and Ruler of the

Emirate of Umm Al Quwain and His Highness, the Crown Prince for their support and continuous
sponsorship of the company.

Chairman of the Board ggl'(;;
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Independent Auditor's Report

The Shareholders

Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
Public Shareholding Company

Umm Al Quiwain - United Arab Emirates

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments
Company (the “Company”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31,
2024 and the statement of profit or loss , statement of other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in shareholder's equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to

the financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2024, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) (including international independence standards) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Company'’s financial statements in
the State of United Arab Emirets and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed on the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matter described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Investment property

Investment property represents a Land owned by the Company in Umm Al Qaiwain. The investment
property is stated at fair value.

The investment property has been considered as an important audit matter for its materiality and the
audit procedures as follows:

1)  An evaluation was obtained from an independent evaluator
2) The difference between the carrying value and the value after the revaluation has been verified.
3) The difference between the carrying value of the property and its fair value has been treated.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report for Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (continued)

Valuation of investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

The company possesses investment in securities comprised of quoted and unquoted investment

carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). The valuation of quoted

investments is arrived at by reference to the quoted bid prices in an active market, while unquoted

investments were valued based on less active parallel market prices.

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) are measured at fair value

with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income

and accumulated in cumulative changes in fair value reserve.

We consider the above investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) a

key matter due to the materiality of investments and inconsistency and fluctuation in quoted bid

prices in an active market and the following are the audit procedures that we performed:

« We obtained the list of all quoted investments carried at FVTOCI and tested it for accuracy.

+ We verified the fair market values of all quoted investments with quoted active bid prices in stock
exchange in which they are listed.

« We verified changes in fair value reserve of investments carried at FVTOCI and accumulated in
the cumulative changes in fair value reserve.

» We also assessed the adequacy of the company’s disclosures in the financial statements for the
re-measurement of quoted investments carried at FVTOCI and its related changes in fair value.

« The fair value of unquoted investments has been verified and matched with prices derived from
parallel market.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of information
included in the company’s report of 2024, other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. We obtained the report of the Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

statement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs and applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company'’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasconable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Rodl Middle East Sharjah Tower, Office 205, Al-Arooba Street
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Independent Auditor’s Report for Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

< Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
As required by UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 we report that:

. We have obtained all the information and explanation we considered necessary for our audit.
2. The financial statements comply, in all material respect with the applicable provisions of UAE

Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 and the Articles of Association of the Company.

3. The Company has maintained proper books of accounts.
The financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account
of the Company.
Transactions and term with related parties disclosed in Note 22.
Investments and shares purchased by the Company during the current year disclosed in Note 6.
The Social Contribution made during the year disclosed in Note 23,
Based on the information and explanation that has been made available to us nothing came to
our attention which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the financial
year ended December 31, 2024 any of the applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. (32)
of 2021 or the Articles of Association of the Company which would have a material effect on the
Company'’s activities or on its financial position for the year.

ad Sama 4
istratio No 1249
Rod| Middle East

Certified Public Accountants

s

o No o

February 22, 2025
Sharjah - U.A.E.
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Independent Auditor's Report

The Shareholders

Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
Public Shareholding Company

Umm Al Quiwain - United Arab Emirates

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments
Company (the “Company”) which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31,
2024 and the statement of profit or loss , statement of other comprehensive income, statement of
changes in shareholder's equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to

the financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2024, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) (including international independence standards) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Company'’s financial statements in
the State of United Arab Emirets and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed on the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matter described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Investment property

Investment property represents a Land owned by the Company in Umm Al Qaiwain. The investment
property is stated at fair value.

The investment property has been considered as an important audit matter for its materiality and the
audit procedures as follows:

1)  An evaluation was obtained from an independent evaluator
2) The difference between the carrying value and the value after the revaluation has been verified.
3) The difference between the carrying value of the property and its fair value has been treated.

R&d! Middle East Sharjah Tower, Office 205, Al-Arooba Strest
PO Box 5792 Sharjah, United Arab Emirates T +971 [6] 568-4285 F +971 [6] 568-6820 info@rodime.com www.rodime.com
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Independent Auditor’'s Report for Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (continued)

Valuation of investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

The company possesses investment in securities comprised of quoted and unquoted investment

carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). The valuation of quoted

investments is arrived at by reference to the quoted bid prices in an active market, while unquoted

investments were valued based on less active parallel market prices.

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) are measured at fair value

with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income

and accumulated in cumulative changes in fair value reserve.

We consider the above investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) a

key matter due to the materiality of investments and inconsistency and fluctuation in quoted bid

prices in an active market and the following are the audit procedures that we performed:

« We obtained the list of all quoted investments carried at FVTOCI and tested it for accuracy.

+ We verified the fair market values of all quoted investments with quoted active bid prices in stock
exchange in which they are listed.

« We verified changes in fair value reserve of investments carried at FVTOCI and accumulated in
the cumulative changes in fair value reserve.

» We also assessed the adequacy of the company’s disclosures in the financial statements for the
re-measurement of quoted investments carried at FVTOCI and its related changes in fair value.

« The fair value of unquoted investments has been verified and matched with prices derived from
parallel market.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of information
included in the company’s report of 2024, other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. We obtained the report of the Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

statement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs and applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company'’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasconable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Rodl Middle East Sharjah Tower, Office 205, Al-Arooba Street
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Independent Auditor’s Report for Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

< Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
As required by UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 we report that:

. We have obtained all the information and explanation we considered necessary for our audit.
2. The financial statements comply, in all material respect with the applicable provisions of UAE

Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 and the Articles of Association of the Company.

3. The Company has maintained proper books of accounts.
The financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account
of the Company.
Transactions and term with related parties disclosed in Note 22.
Investments and shares purchased by the Company during the current year disclosed in Note 6.
The Social Contribution made during the year disclosed in Note 23,
Based on the information and explanation that has been made available to us nothing came to
our attention which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the financial
year ended December 31, 2024 any of the applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. (32)
of 2021 or the Articles of Association of the Company which would have a material effect on the
Company'’s activities or on its financial position for the year.
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Certified Public Accountants
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February 22, 2025
Sharjah - U.A.E.
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UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY

UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024
(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

Exhibit - A

December 31, December 31,
Notes 2024 2023

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment property 5 213,426,340 213,426,340
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) sl 233,960,272 T905E0,025
Deferred tax assets g 14,574 -
Total non-current assets 447,421,186 410,246,365
Currentassets T/ T
I(r;\{?ﬁt:rﬁfnts at fair value through profit or loss 6 (B) 268,198,423 284,843,369
Accounts and other receivables 8 175,107 489,696
Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,208,883 3,419,868
Total current assets 269,582,413 288,752,933
Total assets 7?'}'66'3."5'59 -égéggé-Z_Q-B-
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 10 (A) 363,000,000 363,000,000
Legal reserve 10 (B) 55,088,699 52,548,764
Investments revaluation reserve-FVTOCI 10 (C) (24,406,122) (63,821,092)
Land revaluation reserve 11 179,586,655 179,586,655
Retained earnings 80,679,548 79,206,726
Total shareholders’ equity -6_5-:;"91-5-;&0 '6"1'6"53{ _(JBE
Non-current liabilites /T
Provision for indemnity 12 586,180 567,340
Deferred tax liabilities rg 4,587,434 -
Total non-current liabilities --_5-:1-':’-5“6?] ""'_sé?,é”i'd
Current liabilites /T
Accounts and other payables 46,867,813 45,133,795
Bank overdraft 13 11,013,392 42,777,110
Total current liabilities 'E?EE% :EOE 8?“9:1'6'505-
Total liabilities 763,054,819 88,478,245
Total shareholder’s equity and liabilities 7]?655—3_93 655-1“9-59-1"2'98

—EEEEEEEEE P

To the best of our knowledge, these financial statement fairly present, in all material respects, the

financial position, results of operation and cash flow of the Company as of and for the year ended 31
December 2024.

/‘-—‘—-—_—; Q-%
SALEM ABDULLA SALEM AL HOSANI
CHAIRMAN

AHMAD SULTAN ESSA AL JABER
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

Exhibit — B-1

December 31,

December 31,

Notes 2024 2023

Revenues

Profit from investment in shares 14 26,291,490 28,680,381
Changes in fair value of investment at FVTPL 6(B) 6,215,873 6,457,689
Total revenues 32,507,363 35,138,070
Expenses and other charges

Finance costs 2,782,709 3,647,480
General and administration expenses 15 3,780,446 4,523,726
Total expenses and other charges (6,563,155) (8,171,206)
Net profit for the period before tax 25,944,208 26,966,864
Income tax expense 7 (544,855) -
Net profit for the year after tax 25,399,353 26,966,864
Basic earnings per share 16 0.069 0.074

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

Exhibit — B-2

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

December 31,

Notes

December 31,

Net profit for the year after tax

Other comprehensive income for the year

Changes in fair value of investments at FVTOCI 6 (A)
Profit from sale of investments at FVTOCI

The effect of deferred tax on other comprehensive
income

Total other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year after tax

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2024 2023
25,399,353 26,966,864
44,755,619 5,556,339

430,760 1,386,849

(4,028,005) -
41,158,374 6,943,188
66,557,727 33,910,052



UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

Exhibit - C

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

Balance at December 31, 2022

Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividends distribution

Board of director’'s remuneration
Transfer to retained earnings on sale of
investment at FVTOCI

Transfer to legal reserve

Balance at December 31, 2023

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

The effect of deferred tax on other
comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividends distribution

Board of director’'s remuneration
Transfer to retained earnings on sale of
investment at FVTOCI

Transfer to legal reserve

Balance at December 31, 2024

Investments
revaluation Land
Share Legal reserve- revaluation Retained
capital reserve FVTOCI reserve earnings Total
363,000,000 49,852,078 (67,526,842) 179,586,655 74,829,110 599,741,001
- - - 26,966,864 26,966,864
- - 5,556,339 - 1,386,849 6,943,188
- - 5,556,339 - 28,353,713 33,910,052
- - - - (21,780,000) (21,780,000)
- - - - (1,350,000) (1,350,000)
- - (1,850,589) - 1,850,589 -
- 2,696,686 - - (2,696,686) -
363,000,000 52,548,764 (63,821,092) 179,586,655 79,206,726 610,521,053
- - - - 25,399,353 25,399,353
- - 44,755,619 - 430,760 45,186,379
i i (4,028,005) - - (4,028,005)
- - 40,727,614 - 25,830,113 66,557,727
- - - - (21,780,000) (21,780,000)
- - - - (1,350,000) (1,350,000)
- - (1,312,644) - 1,312,644 -
- 2,539,935 - - (2,539,935) -
363,000,000 55,088,699 (24,406,122) 179,586,655 80,679,548 653,948,780

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

Exhibit - D

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit for the year before tax

Adjustment for: -

Provision for staff indemnity

Profit from investment in shares

Changes in fair value of investments at FVTPL
Finance cost

Operating (loss) before working capital changes
Changies in working capital

Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and other payables

Cash (used in) operating activities

Finance cost paid

Net movement in investment in shares

Proceeds from investments sale and dividends received

Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Paid to shareholders

Board of Directors’ remuneration paid
Bank overdraft

Net cash flows (used in) financing activities

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
25,944,208 26,966,864
18,840 (200,491)
(26,291,489) (28,680,381)
(6,215,873) (6,457,689)
2,782,709 3,647,480
(3,761,605) (4,724,217)
314,589 (246,460)
21,046 (1,355)
(3,425,970) (4,972,032)
(2,782,709) (3,647,480)
30,456,191 1,029,419
26,722,249 30,067,231
50,969,761 22,477,138

(20,067,028)
(1,350,000)
(31,763,718)

(2,210,985)
3,419,868

The accompanying notes are in integral part of these financial statements.

(27,226,482)
(1,350,000)
5,053,341

(1,046,003)
4,465,871
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UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

1-

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

LEGAL STATUS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company (Formerly Umm Al Qaiwain Cement Industries
Company), a Public Shareholding Company (hereinafter referred to as “the Company”), was
incorporated in Umm Al Qaiwain by Amiri Decree number 2/82 on February 11, 1982.

The Company had obtained approval from the Securities and Commodities Authority to change the
commercial activities and trade name to become Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company
P.S.C. and obtained a commercial license number 4558 from the Department of Economic
Development — Umm Al Qaiwain on April 24, 2016.

The company's business activity is development, establishment and management of real estate
enterprises, funds and stocks investments (stocks and bonds), investment, establishment and
institution in commercial enterprises, entertainment, agriculture, tourism, industrial, infrastructure,
educational services, health, energy and ownership and investment of classes and units in the
buildings of the investment areas.

The Company is domiciled at Umm Al Qaiwain, United Arab Emirates.
The registered address of the Company is Umm Al Qaiwain — UAE. P.O.Box 816.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the UAE Commercial Companies
Law No. 32 of 2021.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis, except for investment
properties and certain financial assets in shareholders' equity which are measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in UAE Dirham (AED) which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Company.

Use of estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made estimates and judgments that
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates
are recognized prospectively.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are as follows:

Going concern

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable
future. The Company has been profitable, and it had positive net asset (equity), working capital
and cash flow positions as at the year end. Furthermore, management is not aware of any
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern
basis.
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UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

2.5

2.6

Provision for employees’ end-of-service benefits

Management has measured the Company’s obligation for the post-employment benefits of its
employees based on the provisions of the UAE federal Decree Law no. 33 of 2021 regarding
Employment Regulations. Management does not perform an actuarial valuation as required by
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 “Employee Benefits” as it estimates that such
valuation does not result to a significantly different level of provision. The provision is reviewed
by management at the end of each year, and any change to the projected benefit obligation at
the year-end is adjusted in the provision for employees’ end-of-service benefits in the profit or
loss.

Other provisions and liabilities

Other provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period only to the extent management
considers it probable that there will be a future outflow of funds resulting from past operations or
events and the amount of cash outflow can be reliably estimated. The timing of recognition and
guantification of the liability require the application of judgment to existing facts and
circumstances, which can be subject to change.

Income tax
The financial period is charged with the tax expense in accordance with the accounting
regulations, laws and standards as applicable in UAE.

Applications of new, amendments and improvements to standards
Amendments and improvements to standards that are effective for the current year:

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent
with those followed in the preparation of the Company’s annual financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023, except for the adoption of amendments and improvement standards
that become effective from January 1, 2024.

The Company’s financial risk management objectives and policies are consistent with those
disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The following amendments to existing standards have been applied by the Company in
preparation of these financial statements. The adoption of the below amendments to standards
do not have a significant impact on previously reported net profit (loss) or equity of the Company.

Effective Description

date

January 1,
2024

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16)

Disclosures: Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 _ Supplier Finance Arrangements
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)
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Standards and amendments to standards issued but not yet effective:

The standards and amendments to the standards that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date
of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below.

Effective Description
date
January 1, | ° Lack of Exchangeability — (Amendments to IAS 21)
2025
January 1 e Amendments to the Class_ificati_on and Measurement of Fina_ncial _Instruments -
2026 ' Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures
January 1, | e IFRS 18 : Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
2027 e IFRS 19 : Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
Deferred e Sale or Contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
indefinitely (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

3-2

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of these new standards, amendments and
interpretations. The Company intends to adopt these standards and amendments to the standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The material accounting policy information used in the financial statement are as follows.The
accounting policies have been applied consistently to each of the years presented in these financial
statements.

Impairment of non financial assets

At each statement of financial position date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any, being the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of asset's fair value less costs to sell and
the value in use. The asset's fair value is the amount for which that asset could be exchanged
between knowledgeable, willing parties in arm's length transaction. The value in use is the present
value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. An impairment loss is
recognized immediately in the profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but the increased carrying amount due to reversal
should not be more than what the depreciated historical cost would have been if the impairment had
not been recognized in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in
the statement of comprehensive income unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
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e Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair
value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCT) and ‘loans and receivables’. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at
the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is obtained as "held -for-
trading".

In additional to financial reporting purposes, fair values measurements are categorized into
three levels based on the possibility of noting the degree of importance of inputs to the fair
value measurement process in relation to the entire measurement techniques which can be
described as follows:

-First Level inputs:

First level inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can obtain on the measurement date.

-Second level inputs:

Second level inputs are all inputs other than quoted prices included in first level that are
observable for assets or liabilities either directly or indirectly.

-Third level inputs :

Third level inputs are non-observable inputs for assets and liabilities

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income(FVTOCI)

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income
and added as “cumulative changes in fair value of investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income” under equity. The fair value of these financial assets is its market
value.

When the financial asset is disposed, the related cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the cumulative changes in fair value of investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is reclassified to retained
earnings.

Dividends from investments in securities are recognized in the statement of profits or losses
when the company's right to receive the dividends is established.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss(FVTPL)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with recognition of
any gain or loss arising from a re-measurement in the profits or losses and any dividends or
interests acquired from the financial asset are included in the profits or losses. The fair value is
determined using the income method according to which the discounted cash flow method is
used to determine the present value of expected future economic benefits resulting from
investment ownership unless the impact of the discount is not material.

Debt instruments carried at amortized cost or at FVTOCI

The Company assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset and the Company’s business model for
managing the asset. For an asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at
FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPPI). At initial recognition of a financial
asset, the Company determines whether newly recognized financial assets are part of an
existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business model.
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The Company reassess its business models each reporting period to determine whether the
business models have changed since the preceding period. For the current and prior reporting
period, the Company has not identified a change in its business models.

When a debt instrument measured at FVTOCI is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, for an
equity investment designated as measured at FVTOCI the cumulative gain/loss previously
recognized in OCIl is not subsequently to profit or loss but transferred within equity.

Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI are subject
to impairment.

o Reclassification

If the business model under which the Company holds financial assets changes, the financial
assets affected are reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to
the new category apply prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the
change n business model that results in reclassifying the Company’s financial assets. During
the current financial year and previous accounting period, there was no change in the business
model under which the Company holds financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were
made.

o Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

e Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits where cash equivalents are short term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

e Other receivables

The Company's financial assets fall within the category of "Other receivables”. Other
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Receivables (including trade and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, and balances due from related parties) are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

e Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Company recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognize the financial
asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial
liabilities’. Other financial liabilities (including borrowings, trade and other payables and
balances due to related parties) are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method unless when the effect of discounting their future cash flows to their
carrying amounts using the effective interest method is immaterial.

Employees’ end of service benefits

The Company provides for employees’ end of service benefits to its employees that meets or
exceeds the provisions of the UAE Labour Law. The entitlement to these benefits is based
upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of minimum
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of
employment.

In respect of the Emirati employees, the Company makes contributions to the General Pension
and Social Security Authority, which is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries in
accordance with the respective local laws pertaining to retirement and pensions. The
Company’s share of contribution to these schemes is charged to the profit or loss in the year to
which they relate.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Provisions

Provisions are present obligations (legal or constructive) resulted from past events, the
settlement of the obligations is probable and the amount of those obligations can be estimated
reliably. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, that is, the amount
that the Company would rationally pay to settle the obligation at the statement of financial
position date or to transfer it to a third party.

Provisions are reviewed and adjusted at each statement of financial position date. If outflows, to
settle the provisions, are no longer probable, reverse of the provision is recorded as income.
Provisions are only used for the purpose for which they were originally recognized.

Investment property

Investment properties are non current assets held either to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation or for both, as well as those held for undetermined future use but not for sale in the
ordinary course of business or use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes .
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Investment property is measured initially at cost. The Company determines at each reporting
date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment properties are impaired.
Whenever the carrying amount of an investment property exceeds their recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss . The recoverable amount is the
higher of investment property's fair value less cost to sell and the value in use. The fair value is
determined based on an annual valuation by an independent external valuer.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed off or when they
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their
disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Expenses incurred for replacing component of investment properties items, which are accounted
for separately are capitalised, and carrying value of replaced component is written oOff.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the item of the related investment properties. All other expenses are recognized in
the statement of profit or loss when incurred.

Transfers are made from investment properties to development properties only when there is a
change in use evidenced by commencement of development with a view to sell. Such transfers
are made at the carrying value of the properties at the date of transfer.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations depending on whether some uncertain future
events occur, or they are present obligations but payments are not probable or the amounts
cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements
but are disclosed.

Dividend Distribution
The Company recognizes dividends as a liability in the financial statements in the period in
which the shareholders approve the dividend distribution.

Expenses recognition
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits related to
a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen and can be measured reliably.

An expense is recognized immediately in profit or loss when an expenditure produces no future
economic benefits, or when, and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify or
cease to qualify for recognition in the statement of financial position as an asset, such as in the
case of asset impairments.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are translated into the functional currency of
the Company at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the year are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The Company does not have non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the year. Foreign
currency differences are recognized in profit or loss.

Revenues

Revenues represent the total value of profits from sale of shares and dividends of invested
shares during the year, net of discounts and returns.

Income from distributed profits is recognized in the profit or loss statement when the right of the
company to receive the distributed profits is established.
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b)

Value added tax (“VAT”)

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT, except:

e When the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case, the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable.

¢ When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included. The net amount
of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables in the statement of financial position.

Income tax

The company makes a provision for income tax in accordance with the Income Tax Law and
International Accounting Standard 12 -Income Taxes, which mandates the recognition of
temporary timing differences as deferred tax assets or liabilities as of the financial statement date.

Deferred taxes are taxes expected to be paid or recovered as a result of temporary time
differences between the value of assets or liabilities in the financial statements and the value on
the basis of which the taxable profit is calculated. Deferred taxes are calculated according to the
tax rates that are expected to be applied when settling the tax liability or realizing the deferred tax
assets.

Tax expense is calculated on the basis of taxable profits. Taxable profits differ from profits
declared in the financial statements because declared profits include non-taxable revenue or
expenses that are not deductible in the current financial period but in subsequent years or
accumulated losses that are taxable or items that are not subject to or deductible for tax
purposes.

Financial Risk and Capital Management

Capital risks management

The Company use of financial instruments exposes it to financial risks such as credit risk, liquidity
risks, market risk, foreign currency risk and capital risk.

The Company continuously reviews its risk exposures and takes the necessary procedures to
limit these risks at acceptable levels.

The significant risks that the Company is exposed to are as follows:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to pay an obligation causing
the other party to incur a financial loss.

The financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist principally of receivables on investments.

Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will be unable to meet its cash obligations. The
management of liquidity risks consist of keeping sufficient cash, and arranging financing sources
through enough facilities, managing highly liquid assets, and monitoring liquidity on a yearically
basis by method of future cash flow.

The maturity of liabilities stated below based on the year from the financial position date to the
contractual maturity date. In the case of financial instruments that do not have a contractual
maturity date, the maturity is based on management’s estimate of time year in which the asset
will be collected or disposed and the liability settled.
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The following is maturity table for the financial liabilities as of December 31, 2024:

From 3
On Within 3 months to From 1to
demand months 1year 5 years Total
Liabilities
Accounts and other payables - 46,867,813 - - 46,867,813
Bank overdraft 11,013,392 - - - 11,013,392
Deferred tax liabilities - - - 4,587,434 4,587,434
Total liabilities 11,013,392 46,867,813 - 4,587,434 62,468,639
The following is maturity table for the financial liabilities as of December 31, 2023:
From 3
On Within 3 months to From 1to
demand months 1lyear 5years Total
Liabilities
Accounts and other payables - 45,133,795 - - 45,133,795
Bank overdraft 42,777,110 - - - 42,777,110
Total liabilities 42,777,110 45,133,795 - - 87,910,905
c) Market risk

d)

e)

Market risk is defined as the risk which causes fluctuation in financial instruments value as a
result of change in market prices. International Financial Reporting Standards require disclosure
of the financial instruments that are exposed to fluctuation in its value as a result of change in its
market prices. The financial instruments that expose the Company to market price fluctuation
risk as at December 31, 2024 comprise of investment in financial assets amounting to AED
502,178,695.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is defined as a risk resulting from the fluctuation in the value of financial
instruments as a result of changes in the foreign currency exchange rate. On the date of the
financial statements, the Company maintained recognized financial instruments which are
exposed to the foreign currency risk that may cause a change in the related cash flow amounts
as a result of the fluctuation of foreign currency exchange rates.

The details of the recognized financial instruments in foreign currencies stated in the attached
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: -

Type of foreign Carrying value

currency in UAE Dirham

Financial assets — Kuwait KD 71,117,117
Cash at banks — Kuwait KD 536,779
Cash at banks — Oman OMR 466,407

Capital risk

Regularly, the Company reviews its capital structure which includes debt and equity securities
and considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of the capital. The
Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to shareholders though the optimization of the debt and equity balance.



(10)

UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C.
PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING COMPANY
UMM AL QUIWAIN - UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

4-2

4-3

4-4

>

Capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a
strong capital base in order to support its business and to sustain future development of the
business. Management monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of
economic conditions.

The Company does not have borrowings. It is financed mainly by own equity. The Company’s
capital management policy remained unchanged since the previous year.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Fair value measurement

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at a measurement date. The
Company has not disclosed the fair values of its receivables, bank balances and payables
because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
The Company does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities that are subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or any similar agreements.

INVESTMENT PROPRTY
Investment property is a Land owned by the Company with an area of 10,671,317 square feet.
Investment property was re-evaluted according to an independent valuator on 8 January 2025.

There were no change in the value of the property after revaluation and the balance was as
follows:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Investment proprty 213,426,340 213,426,340

INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Quoted 231,933,005 195,055,461
Unquoted 2,047,267 1,764,564
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The investments distributed according to the geographical location are as follows:

Quoted
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
In UAE 204,719,569 173,047,839
In GCC countries 27,213,436 22,007,622
231,933,005 195,055,461
Unguoted
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
In GCC countries 2,047,267 1,764,564
2,047,267 1,764,564

The transactions during the year over these investments are as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Balance at January 1 196,820,025 218,773,167
Net movement during the year (7,595,372) (27,509,481)
Changes in investment revaluation 44,755,619 5,556,339
233,980,272 196,820,025

The investments above include shares amounting of AED 102,723,812 as securities against bank

facilities granted to the Company

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

All investments through profit or loss are quoted and distributed according to the geographical

location as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
In UAE 226,342,009 253,384,365
In GCC countries 41,856,414 31,459,004
268,198,423 284,843,369
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The transactions during the year over these investments as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Balance at January 1 284,843,369 251,905,619
Net movement during the year (22,860,819) 26,480,061
Changes in investment revaluation 6,215,873 6,457,689
268,198,423 284,843,369

CORPORATE TAX

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released the Federal Decree law No. 47 of
2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Business (the law) to enact a Federal Corporate Tax
(CT) regime in the UAE. The CT regime became effective for accounting period beginning on or
after 1 June 2023.

The Cabinet of Ministers Decision No. 116/2022 effective from 2023, specify the threshold of
income over which the 9% tax rate would apply and accordingly, the law is now considered to be
substantively enacted. A rate of 9% will apply to taxable income exceeding AED 375,000, a rate
of 0% will apply to taxable income not exceeding AED 375,000.

As the Company’s accounting year ends on 31 December, accordingly the effective
implementation date for the Company will start from 1 January 2024 and first tax period being 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024, where the first corporate tax return will be filed on or before
30 September 2025.

The differencies between IFRS Accounting Standrds and statutory taxation regulations in the
United Arab Emirets gives rise to temporary differences between carrying amount of assets and
liabilitties for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position as at 30 December 31
2024 are as follows:

December 31,

2024
Deferred tax Assets
9% of expense provisions 14,574
Deferred tax liabilities
9% of the difference in revaluation of investments at FVTPL 559,429
9% of the difference in revaluation of investments at FVTOCI 4,028,005
4,587,434

Deferred tax assets represent the provisions for expenses that are expected to be deductible for
tax purposes in the future upon thier relaisations. These expenses are excluded from the taxable
income calculation.

Deferred tax liabilities represent the estimated tax liability that will arise in future periods from the
difference in revaluation of financial assets at fair value when the unrealized gains are realized.
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Deferred tax expense

The main components of the corporate tax expense provisions in the statement of profit or loss

are as follows:

9% of the difference in revaluation of investments at FVTPL

9% of expense provisions

8- ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Cash balance with brokers
Due from the staff

Prepaid expense

Bank guarantees

Others

9- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in hand
Cash at banks - UAE

Cash at banks - Kuwait
Cash at banks - Oman

10- SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
a) Capital:

b)

December 31,

2024

December 31,

2023

559,429

(14,574)

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
91,736 441,721
12,576 21,150
36,095 -

1,590 1,590
33,110 25,235
175,107 489,696

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
17,972 27,986
187,725 431,044
536,779 2,494,431
466,407 466,407
1,208,883 3,419,868

The Company’s Capital as shown in Exhibit A amounting to AED 363,000,000 consists of fully

paid-up 363,000,000 shares of one Dirham per share.

Legal Reserve:

1) In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year is to
be deducted and retained in legal reserve account and such appropriation shall be
suspended when the reserve balance reaches an amount equal to 50% of the Company’s
paid up capital. Such appropriation will be resumed whenever the reserve balance becomes

less than 50% of the Company’s paid up capital.
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(All amounts are in U.A.E. Dirham)

2) The movements over legal reserve during the year are as follows:

Balance at January 1
Transferred from profit

Balance at end of the year — Exhibit A

c) Investment revaluation reserve at FVTOCI:

The Investment revaluation reserve at fair Value through other comperehinsive income
represent accumulated gains and losses arising from the revaluation of financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income.

11- LAND REVALUATION RESERVE

The land revaluation reserve represents the increase or decrease in the value of lands in
previous years resulting from the revaluation of the land at fair value by independent evaluator at

the end of previous financial years.

In 2022, the company’s management decided to reclassify the land into an investment property.

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023

52,548,764 49,852,078
2,539,935 2,696,686

55,088,699 52,548,764

The movement of the reserve during the year were as follows:

Balance at January 1
Decrease during the year

12- PROVISION FOR INDEMNITY

The movements during the year are as follows:

Balance at January 1
Additions during the year
Paid during the year

13- BANK OVERDRAFT

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
179,586,655 179,586,655
179,586,655 179,586,655

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
567,340 767,831
18,840 93,308

- (293,799)

586,180 567,340

The bank overdraft as shown in Exhibit A represents the withdrawn overdraft balances from
bank facilities granted to the Company from local banks in the United Arab Emirates against

guarantees of securities amount of AED 102,723,812.
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14- PROFIT FROM INVESTMENT IN SHARES

Dividend received
Profit from sale of investment in shares

15- GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Employees’ salaries and bonus
Investments management expense-(15-1)
Air ticket

Rent

Provisions of indemnity
Provisions of leave expenses
Water and electricity
Profissional fees

Insurance

Licenses and memebrships
Bank chargies

Sundry expenses

15-1 Investment management expense

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023

25,070,799 21,849,984
1,220,691 6,830,397

26,291,490 28,680,381

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
1,327,079 1,885,868
894,408 894,000
31,250 22,250
73,032 125,000
18,840 93,308
111,844 125,726
22,279 35,481
246,260 100,000
79,988 90,318
722,516 779,084
28,718 58,941
224,232 313,750
3,780,446 4,523,726

Investment management expense represent staff salaries of managing the investments as per
management estimates. The management decided to record it separately from salaries

expenses in the general and adminstation expenses.

16- BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net profit for the year after tax
Average number of ordinary share

Basic earnings per share

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
25,399,353 26,966,864
3000000 363,000,000
"""" 0.069 oo
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17-

A)

b)

18-

19-

CREDIT FACILITIES:

As of the attached financial statements date, the credit facilities extended to the Company by the
banks are as follows:

Overdraft AED 270,000,000
Bank guarantee (Labour) AED 1,590

The overdraft facility has been obtained from local banks in the UAE for the purpose financing
investments and working capital requirements. The interest rate is calculated on the basis of one
to three months EIBOR plus a margin.

In case of exceeding the agreed upon granted bank facilities or any arrears in the payment of
the obligations, interest shall be imposed on such excess/ overdue liability in addition to the
interest agreed upon above.

The above facilities are extended against guaranteed shares.

PROPOSED DIVIDENDS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION:

Board of Directors proposed to the general assembly meeting to approve the following
distribution of profit and Board of Directors’ remuneration:

1) Proposed dividends to shareholders 6% of the paid-up capital amounting to AED 21,780,000
(6 % for 2023).

2) Proposed Board of Directors’ remuneration is AED 1,350,000 (AED 1,350,000 for 2023).

The above-mentioned dividend and Board of Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholder
approval at the Annual General Assembly Meeting and is not recorded as a liability in these
financial statements.

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

The Company’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Company’s assets. The
two geographical segments in which the Company operates comprise of UAE and GCC.

Assets distribution

The following table shows the distribution of the Company’s segment assets by geographical
market:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
In UAE 645,794,746 640,715,534
In GCC countries 71,208,853 58,283,764
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B- Financial assets at fair value distribution
The following table demonstrates financial assets information, the geographical allocation and the nature of activities in which invested:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 Total

1- Investments at FVTOCI December 31, December 31,

UAE GCC UAE GCC 2024 2023

Banking sector 191,400,000 758,547 152,250,000 625,747 192,158,547 152,875,747
Finance and investment sector 4,348,700 10,913,361 12,512,046 8,110,712 15,262,061 20,622,758
Real estate sector - 7,115,067 - 4,976,634 7,115,067 4,976,634
Industrial sector 228,144 5,220,392 214,043 4,410,813 5,448,536 4,624,856
Service sector - - - 127,050 - 127,050
Telecommunication sector - 5,107,410 - 5,521,230 5,107,410 5,521,230
Insurance sector 8,742,725 - 8,071,750 - 8,742,725 8,071,750
Transportation sector - 145,926 - - 145,926 -

204,719,569 29,260,703 173,047,839 23,772,186 233,980,272 196,820,025
2- Investments at FVTPL
Banking sector 27,698,708 20,928,151 36,540,000 10,629,366 48,626,859 47,169,366
Finance and investment sector 51,260,333 14,464,771 66,638,654 14,433,745 65,725,104 81,072,399
Real estate sector - 3,255,461 3,045,000 2,668,868 3,255,461 5,713,868
Industrial sector 12,450,000 2,110,319 16,170,000 1,509,821 14,560,319 17,679,821
Services sector 5,684,700 1,097,712 5,197,440 2,217,204 6,782,412 7,414,644
Energy sector 1,420,000 - 1,230,000 - 1,420,000 1,230,000
Insurance sector 122,048,268 - 118,623,271 - 122,048,268 118,623,271
Basic material sector 4,900,000 - 5,940,000 - 4,900,000 5,940,000
Transportation sector 880,000 - - - 880,000 -

226,342,009 41,856,414 253,384,365 31,459,004 268,198,423 284,843,369
Total 431,061,578 71,117,117 426,432,204 55,231,190 502,178,695 481,663,394
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20-

21-

BENEFITS OF THE KEY MANAGEMENT AND MANAGERS

The benefits of the key management members and managers are as follows:

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Salaries and management benefits 1,853,000

1,803,170

The amount mentioned above is recognised as an expense during the year.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, differences can
arise between book values and the fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the
presumption that the Company is going concern without any attention or requirement to materially
curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are grouped at
three levels of the fair value hierarchy. This Company is determined at the lowest level of significant
inputs used in the measurement of fair value, as follows:

Level one: Prices offered (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level two: Inputs other than quoted prices within Level one that can be observable for assets or
liabilities either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices).

Level three: Inputs of assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs).

As at December 31, 2024

Level one Level two Total
Quoted equity investments — FVTPL 268,198,423 - 268,198,423
Quoted equity investments — FVTOCI 231,933,005 - 231,933,005
Unquoted equity investments- FVTOCI - 2,047,267 2,047,267
500,131,428 2,047,267 502,178,695
As at December 31, 2023
Level one Level two Total
Quoted equity investments — FVTPL 284,843,369 - 284,843,369
Quoted equity investments — FVTOCI 195,055,461 - 195,055,461
Unquoted equity investments- FVTOCI - 1,764,564 1,764,564
479,898,830 1,764,564 481,663,394
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22-

23-

25-

26-

27-

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There are no transactions with related parties during the year ended December 31,2024.
SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION

There are no social contributions during the year ended December 31, 2024.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities as of the financial statements’ date comprises of bank guarantees amounting to
AED 1,590.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figures have been reclassified to be consistent with presentation adopted in the
current year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no significant events after the reporting date, which have a bearing on these financial
statements.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 February 2025.
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Preface

About the Company

Umm Al Qaiwain General Investments Company - P.S.C (Umm Al Qaiwain Cement Industries
P.S.C - Formerly), was established pursuant to the Emiri Decree No. 82/2 on February 11t 1982.
The Company was registered at the competent government authorities in accordance to the
applicable in the United Arab Emirates, the Company's head office and legal address located in
Umm Al Qaiwain, United Arab Emirates.

The main permitted purposes of the Company are represented in the following activities:-

Investment in commercial projects, their establishment, and management.
Investment in industrial projects, their establishment, and management.
Investment in agricultural projects, their establishment, and management.

Investment and development of real estate projects, their establishment, and
management.

Investment in tourism projects, their establishment, and management.

Investment in entertainment projects, their establishment, and management.
Investment in infrastructure projects, their establishment, and management.
Investment in energy projects, their establishment, and management,

Investment in healthcare projects, their establishment, and management.
Investment in educational services projects, their establishment, and management.
Investment in sports projects, their establishment, and management.

Investment management.

Ownership and investment in units and layers within investment zone buildings.
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First: Statement outlining the procedures taken to complete the corporate governance system during 2024 and

how these procedures will be applied.

Governance Principles Application

The company is committed to apply best practices as follows:

The company'’s articles of association have been prepared in accordance with the provisions

of the Federal Decree Law (32) of 2021 regarding commercial companies, and the decision

of the Chairman of the Authority’s Board of Directors No. (3 / R.M) of 2020 and No. (6/R.M) of
2022 regarding the standards of institutional discipline and corporate governance of public

shareholding companies and its modifications.

Implementing the policies, procedures and decisions issued by the authority regarding the

standards of institutional discipline and corporate governance of public shareholding

companies, commitment to applying best practices regarding the board and its committees,

dealing transparently with the external auditor, and implementing the decisions of the

general assembly.

The company disclosed the quarterly and annual financial statements after reviewing and

approving them by the external auditor within the permitted legal period.

The company’s board members, employees, and auditor adhered to professional conduct

rules, policies, internal controls, and complied with the applicable laws and regulations.

The company’s website has been updated which includes all of the company’s information
www.gic-uaqg.ae, to enhance disclosure and transparency, and to offer any new or substantive

decisions, and it is considered one of the means to reach the shareholder to see all the events
directly.
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Second: Statement detailing the ownership and transactions of board members, their spouses, and their children

in the company’s securities during 2024 according to the following table:

Sh W
No. Name Position ;r::;z;;}dz:s Total Sale transaction|Total purchase transaction
Chairman: o —ij
107,068,185
1 |Salem Abdulla Salem Al Hosani Chairman ; == ]
Spouse: ~-
Sons: 26,910,465 ] 1,533,700
Deputy
2 |Ahmed Sultan Essa Al-laber Deputy Chairman Chairman:-- == e
Spouse & Sons:— ey =
Al Salem Company Ltd,
(Represented by Mr. / Mohamed Salem Managing Director  |16,000,000 — = |
3 Abdulia Al Hosani)
13,000,000
Mohamed Salem Abdulla AlHosani Acting Managing Director Socinad butices = _—
4 |Shaikh / Saud Majid bin Saud Al-Qasimi Member sl — —
Spouse & Sons:— e == 4
ber:—
5 [Fahad Abul Rahman Saud AlMukhaizim Member Mt =) ==
Spouse & Sons:-- p— ]
Member; =,
0 sl
6 [Ahmed Omar Salem Al-Karbi Member DR . =
Spouse:-
Sons: 22,101,076 i 636,141
z Member;-- - -
7 |Rahma Mohammed Rahma Al Shamsi Member
Spouse & Sons:— — g
M -
8 |Shaikh / Abdulaziz Nasser Rashid Al Moalla Member ey == =
Spouse & Sons:—- g Tl
9 |Sarah Humaid Cbaid AlZaahi Member Sambers- _— =,
Spouse & Sons:— i Il
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Third: Formation of the Board of Directors

Puositions Held in Other
. Ferlod served as hoard Membarstip and Postdons In Regulatary,
e Hhiman. Y ERPERee B Dualieation mermber Other loint Stadks Companies | Govemmental, :::vnmmﬂ
Positions
*Bachelor's Dagres in Bisiness
Adrninistration « Arab University of Beirat
{1976}
* Former Buard Member of Shuaa Capital,
* Former Board Member of the Union
Insurance Campany. * Wice Chairman of Gult idedical
* Former Board Member of the Amb United Projects Comgiany.
Bank. * Board Member of Al-Buhaira
1 |Sabern Abdulia Saiam Al Hosani Ko i independent® Former Buard Member of Umm Al 1499 Insurance.
(Quwain Hatinnal Bank. * Chairman of Al-Selem Limited
* Former Board Member of Gulf Cemant Cornipamy,
Compary, * Chairman of Al-Sshe| Shores Center,
* Former Board Membar of Sharlah
Insurance Company,
* Former Board Member of Ras Al Khaimah
White Camant and Construction Materials
Carnpany, -
* Former Member of the Federal National
Council.
2 |Ahmed Sultan Essa Al-Jaber Mo h Fotmer ber of thy S 2002
Committee for Mationality and Passports in
Abu Dhabi.
* Bachelor's Degrea in £ = o
f{ Salgm Ou:mnnr LLd‘.. " ; | Mmster of Science In Financial € e : :Umvn Imum!u:e Compary. il R P
3 i by . / Salem Iy i Neandnd = tomriral Wiarigok SF AR Suh Shosss Conber 2017 Al-Salem Limited Companmy. Al-Sahil Shares Center
(Abdulla Al Hosani |* Al-Sahil Shares Ceanter, iy
since 2005,
* CED of Al Saud Company LEd
* CED of Al Saud Company Lid. * CED of Al Majae Investment
¥ CEQ of Al Majar e strnant Compony
A (Shaikh § Saud Majid bin Saud Al Qasimi Non Ine. f b of B i 017 Company. * CEO af Al Saud investment
* CEQ of Al Saud Investment Compny. Camphy,
*EED of Al Saud Holding Company, YCEO of Al Saud Haoiding
Compaimy.
* Bachelor's Degree in Business * Board Member and CEO of National
Administeation - Finance and Banking (1994), Investments Compary PSEC
* Master of Business Administration - * Chatrman of the Kuwait Cearing
Specinization in Finance (1995, Campany, ;::‘2;;?5':"‘“ romeirmRnts
5 [Fahad Abdul Hahman Saud Almukhaizi i Iriel 1 *CEO of Comprpariy. 2047 ™ Chabriman of Arkan Kuwait Real " ; o
* Investment Analyst at Kuwalt General Fstate Company, ‘?Ud‘“ Spclabararthe i
Trading and Contracting Company (Wafra A mamber of seversl joingssock | 1SV B Fiftance (Kuwait)
Hite I o ] companics In Kuwait, Saudl Arahia,
= Budgst Specialist at the Ministry of and |ebanan.
Finance (Kuwait).
* Bacheler's Degrae in Business
[Administration and Accounting [Double
WMajor) - LIAE University,
* Finarwcial aed Administrative Affairs « " =
Ministry of Azriculture and Fisharias {8k G mi::::s‘:“:;t:p‘w “Arig"
o |Whied Giar salem ARG o denpndene CPabi om 1972 ta 1986, <k Bahsaing
= * Administrative Affairs - Alr Farce and Ajr : = Conparatiia Hausing sid
Pﬁhm& from 1987 10 1992, Constr Assaclation in Dubsai,
Former Board fMeamber of Ras Al Khalmah
Houttry and Feed Company.
* Former Board Member of the Marine
Diradiin BTy
* Two courses in Financial Risk
M and il Mianag Iry
ithe United Kingdem,
* Over O yeors of expedence in financlsl * Assistant Vice President of Assel
analysis, asset mansgement, and credic, Menmgamen, Vice Prasident of Asset
+ Ouer 10 years of expericnce in corporate d X 2
7 |Rahma Mahammed fahma Alshamsi W dependent | nance. 2008 1'::;_'"?'"“’“ R R s
+ Assistant Vico Prosident of Asssg s Exm';m\!' Prasi G
f‘j'"'ﬁ!w-;f:' Presic : nl‘&sm 5@_-;\.:::; ::uun;.e resident - Bunking
* Vice Prasident of the Credit Departmsnt.
® Exgcutivie Vice Presldunt - Banking
Services Group,
m?::::::fm T Bl A " Haad of Inspection Teom
8 [Siralkh / Abdulasie Nassee Rashic Al Moalla |N i * Master’s Duarue in Human Resources. 2020 Faemer: Nased Mismiigr of {sanboig Supervicion
* Fafmer Board Member of Emiretes Erpinstes Insiranee Campaay; Hhpsimnn
. at LAE Central Sank,
- __Insurance f_‘_\.:ﬂllﬂali,- e ~ ———
* Bachelar's Degree in Modia,
" Twe years of expalenoe ot Sharah
9 [Sara Humald Obald Alzaani Non-executivel  Independent Pt il nis il s - -
Specinlist,
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- Statement of the percentage of female representation on the Board of Directors for 2024:

The percentage of female representation on the Board of Directors for 2024 is 11% (One
Member).

- Statement of the bonuses, allowances, and fees received by members of the Board of directors:
1. Total bonuses paid to board members for 2023.

Members of the Board of Directors have received an amount of 1,350,000 AED for the year
2023, which was adopted in the General Assembly held in March 25%, 2024.

2. Total proposed bonuses for board members for 2024, which will be presented at the annual
general assembly meeting for approval.

The Board of Directors proposed in its meeting on 22/2/2025 - based on the recommendation
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Disbursing remunerations to members of
the Board of Directors for the year ending on December 31, 2024, with a total amount of
1,350,000 the proposal will be presented at the annual general meeting for approval.

3. Statement of details of allowances received for attending committee sessions of the Board of
Directors for 2024,

For the year 2024, there were no allowances received for attending committee sessions of
the Board of Directors.

4. Details of any additional allowances, salaries, or fees received by a member of the Board of
Directors, other than committee attendance allowances, and their reasons.

There were no additional allowances, salaries, or fees received by any member of the Board
of Directors.
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- The number of Board of Directors meeting held during the fiscal year 2024, indicating the dates of

their holding, and the number of personal attendance times with all members, with a statement of
the members attending by proxy.

The company's board of directors held four meetings during the year 2024, as follows:

No. | Meeting Date i:tr:::;:: Number of Attendees by Proxy Namh:::‘.fb::ssent
1 | 24Feb 2024 9 - K. il
2 | 25Mar 2024 7 2 :
3 2 Nov 2024 9 - a
4 7 Dec 2024 9 ~ .

- Number of the decisions passed by the Board of Directors during the fiscal year 2024, along with their

corresponding dates.

* The company’s Board of Directors’ decision issued on Wednesday, May 1, 2024, to approve
the company’s summary interim financial statements for the three months ending on March
31, 2024.

= The company’s Board of Directors’ decision issued on Saturday, August 10, 2024, to approve
the company’s summary interim financial statements for the six months ending June 30,
2024,
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Fourth: Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee | |

A. Acknowledgment from the Chairman of the Audit Committee of his responsibility for the committee's
system in the company and for reviewing its operations and ensuring its effectiveness.

“l, Shaikh / Saud Majed Bin Saud Al Qasimi, Chairman of the Audit Committee, acknowledge my
responsibility for the committee’s system in the company and for my review of its work
mechanism and verification of its effectiveness.”

B. Names of the members of the Audit Committee:

1-

Shaikh / Saud Majid bin Saud Al Qasimi - Head of the Committee

2- Shaikh / Abdulaziz Nasser Rashid Almoalla - Member
3- Mr. Ahmed Mohamed Mansour Albeba — Member from outside the Board of Directors

Statement of their powers and main tasks:

Review the financial and accounting policies and procedures in the company.

Monitor the integrity of the company's financial data and reports (quarterly, semi-annual, and
annual) and review them as part of regular operations throughout the year and after the
closure of accounts.

Raise recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the selection, resignation, or
dismissal of the external auditor. If the Board does not agree with the Audit Committee's
recommendations in this regard, it must ensure that the governance report includes a
statement explaining the Audit Committee's recommendations and the reasons for the
Board's disagreement.

Develop and implement a contracting policy with the auditor, and submit a report to the
Board detailing issues deemed important for action, along with recommendations for the
necessary steps to be taken.

Ensure that the auditor meets the requirements stipulated in applicable laws, regulations,
decisions, and the company’s articles of association, and monitor their independence.
Approve any additional work performed by the external auditor for the company and the fees
charged for such work.

Review all matters related to the auditor’s work, their work plan, correspondence with the
company, their observations, suggestions, and reservations, as well as any significant
inquiries raised by the auditor regarding accounting recorde, financial accounts, or control
systems, and monitor the management's response and provision of necessary facilities for
the auditor to perform their work.

Ensure that the Board of Directors and executive management respond promptly to the
inquiries and significant matters raised in the auditor's letter.
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Discuss the internal audit system with the Board of Directors, ensuring its effectiveness in
establishing a robust internal control system.

Congider the results of significant investigations into internal audit matters as
commissioned by the Board or initiated by the committee with the Board's approval.

Establish controls that allow company employees and stakeholders to confidentially report
any potential violations in financial reports, internal auditing, or other matters, along with

steps for conducting independent and fair investigations into those violations, including
procedures to protect the whistleblower and ensuring s

implementation.
" Monitor the company's adherence to professional conduct standards.

" Review transactions with related parties and ensure there are no c

recommending to the Board prior to finalizing such transactions.

C. Number of meetings held by the Audit Committee during 2024 and their dates to discuss issues
related to the financial statements and any other matters, and a statement of the n

attendance times of the members in the held meetings.

The Committee held four meetings, as follows:

trict compliance

onflicts of interest,

Saturday Saturday Friday Friday
No. Members
24/Feb/2024 | 30/Apr/2024 | 9/Aug/2024 | 1/Nov/2024
1 Sheikh Saud Bin.Mf'.-led Saud Al v v v v
Qassimi
5 Sheikh Abdulaziz Nasser Rashid " y v G
Almoalla
3 Mr. Ahmed Mohamed Mansour " v v v
AlBeba
Page 10 of 28 Governance Report 2024

UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.S.C
P.O.Box: 816 Umm Al Qaiwain

United Arab Emirates

Email : gic@emirates.net ae

Tel: 49716 7681699 aila
Fax: 49716 7681070 wusla

www.gic-uag.ae

¢ (@ig ALYl gégall

g.p.ub dolell &ljLoltuwill (g Al pl @Sy
G—g4ill pl-816.u
Santall dypall aljloyl
gic@emirates.nat.ae wdggialyl aapll

in their

umber of personal




LIC"’

gl o)l OhjL__piiwyl (3 ygill gf
UMM AL GAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS

D. Annual Audit Committee Report:

1. Significant matters reviewed by the committee concerning the financial statements and the manner
in which these matters were addressed.

The committee reviewed the interim and annual financial statements for the year 2024 before
their approval and raised recommendations to the Board of Directors in accordance with the
established policies and procedures. After a thorough review of the financial statements, the
committee found no significant issues that required addressing or commentary.

2. An explanation of how the committee assessed the independence and effectiveness of the external
audit process, the approach taken for appointing reappointing the external auditor, and information on
the tenure of the current audit firm.

The committee reviewed and monitored the independence of the external auditor and discussed
the scope and nature of the audit process and its effectiveness according to the accepted
auditing standards. The current auditor was appointed six years ago by the General Assembly,
and the partner auditor was changed after three years in accordance with governance rules;
thus, 2024 will be the auditor's final year.

3. A statement outlining the committee’s recommendation regarding the appointment, reappointment,
or dismissal of the external auditor, along with reasons why the Board of Directors may reject this
recommendation.

After evaluating proposals from various firms for auditing the company's accounts for 2025,
the committee reached its final decision to appoint Crowe Global as the external auditor. This
selection was based on the professional competence and extensive experience of the firm in

the field of auditing, as well as its commitment to recognized international professional
standards.

4. An explanation of how the independence of the external auditor is maintained when providing non-
audit services to the company.

The independence of the external auditor is defined through the application of a set of controls
and standards that limit conflicts of interest. The company specifies a clear scope of services
provided by the external auditor, restricting their services to auditing only, while minimizing or
avoiding the provision of other consulting services. The audit committee monitors any
additional services provided to ensure they do not affect the auditor's neutrality. The committee
also follows up on the auditors’ adherence to professional ethical standards, requiring
disclosure of any relationships or interests that might affect their independence. A periodic
evaluation of the external auditor’s independence is conducted to ensure compliance with
relevant international and local standards. This way, the company ensures that audit processes
remain reliable and objective, enhancing the trust of shareholders.
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5. Actions taken or planned by the committee to address any deficiencies or weaknesses in the event
of failures in internal control or risk management.

The audit committee takes immediate action to address deficiencies upon their discovery,
conducting a comprehensive analysis to identify the causes of failures, focusing on technical
and managerial aspects that may be behind those issues. Additionally, the committee develops
a corrective action plan that includes steps to enhance the internal control system, such as
updating policies and procedures and providing necessary training to employees.

6. Evidence that the committee has reviewed all internal audit reports with medium and high risks,
issued from the internal audit, to determine whether they stem from significant violations or
weaknesses in internal controls.

The audit committee conducted a thorough review of all reports related to medium and high
risks issued by the internal control department, aiming to assess the seriousness of the risks
and any major failures or weaknesses in the internal control system. This review includes a
detailed analysis of the reports to identify potential sources of risks and understand the context
in which they arose. Upon discovering any major failures, the committee takes immediate action
to develop corrective plans and effective strategies to address those issues. All observations

and recommendations are documented in the committee’s meeting minutes to ensure follow-
up on execution and confirm improvements.

7. Comprehensive information about the corrective action plan to address substantial deficiencies in
risk management and internal control systems.

When necessary, a comprehensive corrective action plan is established to enhance the
effectiveness of internal control systems. This plan includes a series of measures that address
the root causes of deficiencies, with associated risks assessed and classified based on their
impact and likelihood of occurrence. The plan includes the identification of responsibilities,
allocation of necessary resources, and a timeline for implementation. The progress of these
measures is monitored and evaluated periodically to ensure objectives are met.

8. Documentation demonstrating that the committee has audited all transactions made with related
parties, the observations or results thereof, and the extent of compliance with applicable laws in this
regard.

The audit committee concluded that no transactions were conducted with related parties
during the year 2024.
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Nominations and Remuniration Committee

A- Acknowledgment from the Chairman of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee

regarding his responsibility for overseeing the committee system within the company
and for reviewing its operations and ensuring its effectiveness.

"I  Rahmah Mohammad Rahmah Al Shamsi chairman of the Nominations and Remuneration
Committee, acknowledged my responsibility for the committee system in the company and for
my review of its work mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness.”

B- Names of the members of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee:
1. Mr. Rahmah Mohammad Rahmah Al Shamsi — Head of the Committee
2. Shaikh / Saud bin Majid Saud Al Qasimi — Member

3. Mr. Ahmed Omar Salem Al-Karbi — Member

Statement of the main powers and tasks entrusted to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

= Setting a special policy for candidacy for membership in the Board of Directors and the
Executive Management aimed at taking into account gender diversification within the
formation and encouragement of women through incentive benefits and programs.

" Organizing and following-up the procedures for nomination for membership in the Board of
Directors in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and the provisions of this
decision.

" Ensuring the independence of the independent members on an ongoing basis.

® Preparing the policy for granting rewards, benefits, incentives and salaries to the members
of the company’s board of directors and employees, and reviewing them annually, and the
committee must verify that the rewards and benefits granted to the company’s senior
executive management are reasonable and commensurate with the company’s long-term
performance.

® The annual review of the required skills requirements appropriate for the membership of the
Board of Directors and preparing a description of the capabilities and qualifications required
for the membership of the Board of Directors, including determining the time that a member
needs to allocate to the work of the Board of Directors.

* Review the structure of the Board of Directors and submit recommendations regarding
changes that can be made.

" Determine the company's needs for competencies at the level of senior executive
management and employees and the basis for selecting them.

= FPreparing the policy on human resources and training in the company and monitoring its
implementation and reviewing it annually.

® Verify the continued availability of membership criteria for Board members on an annual

basis.

Page 13 of 28 Governance Report 2024
UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY P.5.C Tel: 49716 7681900 «Alila g o.ub dolall iyl otiwill g 1él pf @50
P.O. Box : 816 Umm Al Qaiwain Fax:  +971 6 7681070 -yusla d__ig_LaJI pl-816.,a
United Arab Emirates www.aic-uaqae edgrialyl igall dantall dyjell aljloyl

Email : gic@emirates.net.ae gic@emirates.nelae « oigitalul appll



QIC"

ol el OljL__afiwyl (gl pi
UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS

Ensure the ongoing independence of independent members.

If the committee finds that 2 member has lost the criteria for independence, it must present
the matter to the Board to notify the member via registered mail at their registered address
with the company, along with the justifications for the loss of independence. The member
must respond to the Board within fifteen days from the date of notification, and the Board
will decide whether to consider the member independent or not in the first meeting following
the member's response or the expiration of the period without a response.

In accordance with Article (145) of the Commercial Companies Law, if a decision by the
Board of Directors leads to the loss of independence by a member affecting the minimum
required ratio of independent members, the Board will appoint an independent member to
replace that member if the latter resigns due to the loss of independence. If the member
refuses to resign, the Board must present the matter to the general assembly to decide
whether to approve the appointment of another member in their place or to open nominations
for electing a new member.

Ensure the existence of an appropriate and updated plan for the continuity and succession
of the company's senior executives and the heads of the Board committees.

- Nominations and Remuneration Committee meetings during the year 2024:

The Committee held one meeting, as follows:

Friday
No. Members
23/Feb/2024

1 | Mr. Rahma Mohammed Rahma Al Shamsi v

2 | Sheikh / Saud bin Majid Saud Al Qasimi v

3 | Mr. Ahmad Omar Salem AlKorbi v
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Committee for monitoring and supervising transactions of

stakeholders

A. Acknowledgment from the chairman of the committee or the authorizedindividual responsible for the
committee system within the company and for reviewing its operations and ensuring its
effectiveness.

1. "1/ Saoud Nassir Rashid Almoalla, Head of the Commiittee, acknowledged my responsibility
for the committee system in the company and for my review of its work mechanism and
ensuring its effectiveness."

B. Names of the members of the committee tasked with monitoring and supervising transactions of
stakeholders

2. Shaikh / Saoud Nassir Rashid Almoalla = Head of the Committee
3. Mr. Ashraf Radi Ibrahim - Member
4. Ms. Noora Juma Saif Alghfeli — Member

Statement detailing its powers and assigned tasks:

= Identify permanent insiders within the company, including board members, executive
management, employees, and individuals who have ongoing access to the company's
confidential information, as well as those who have temporary access.

» Monitor and supervise the transactions and ownership of insiders and maintain their
records.

* Prepare a comprehensive register of all insiders, including those who can be considered
temporary insiders who are entitled or have access to internal information before it is
published.

= Maintain a record of prior and subsequent disclosures related to insiders and conduct
monthly monitoring of their balances.

* Notify the Securities and Commodities Authority and Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange with
an updated list of insiders at the beginning of each fiscal year and any amendments that
occur during the fiscal year.

* Keep official declarations from insiders and temporary insiders regarding access to the
company's internal information.

= Submit periodic reports on insiders’ transactions to the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange.

= Inform all insiders about the required controls and legal responsibilities by providing them
with and having them sign official declarations.

» Follow up with the responsible department for issuing notifications regarding blackout

periods.
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C.

Other committees approved by the Board of Directors

Summary of the committee's work report for 2024.

The Committee has reviewed the acquainted 's register and made sure that there are no
transactions made the Company'e chares for the members of the Board of Directors, its
employees and all acquainted within the Company in the securities during 2024, depending
on the official statements received from Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange and Kuwait Stock
Exchange. Such official statements confirm the statements contained in the records of the
Company and the declarations submitted.

The Committee has reviewed the statements submitted by the members of the Board of
Directors of the Company and the acquainted concerning their trading or non-trading in the
securities of the Company during 2024,

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange, the Securities and Commodities Authority, the Kuwait Stock
Exchange and the Capital Markets Authority have been provided with a list of the names of
the members of the Board of Directors and the acquainted.

The Internal Control Department and the Board Secretariat have been informed to notify the
acquainted of the prohibition period, as the Committee made sure that the Chairman, the
members of the Board of Directors and all the acquainted have been informed about the
prohibition of trading in the securities issued by the Company until the disclosure of the
Company's financial statements. The prohibition periods were (after March 17, June 16,
September 16" and December 17t") of 2024.

The Committee decided to obtain official declarations from the permanent or temporarily
acquainted in order to preserve its confidentiality, and not to misuse, transfer or cause the
transfer thereof directly or indirectly to third parties, assuming the entire legal responsibility
in case of breach of this decision.

To notify all acquainted persons and inform them of the controls related to them and the

legal responsibility resulting from the breach of confidentiality of information, as described
in clause (5) above.

There is no other committee or committees.

Page 16 of 28 Governance Report 2024
UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS COMPANY BSC Tel: 49716 7681099 iila £t dolall erljlofiwill (g sall pl d@Sul
P.O. Box : 816 Umm Al Qaiwain Fax:  +971 6 7681070 wuila g éll pl-816.u p
United Arab Emirates wwwolc-uagae - odgyidlyl pigall daainll duell aljloyl

Email : gic@emiraies.net.ae gic@emirates.netae : ;aig iyl syl



QIC"

il el Siljl_oliunll 'y gl af
UMM AL QAIWAIN GENERAL INVESTMENTS

- Statement of the tasks and powers of the Board of Directors carried out by a member of the Board or
the Executive Management during 2024 based on a delegation from the Board:

The Chairman of the Board of Directors, Deputy Chairman as well as the Managing Director
shall have the sole right to sign on behalf of the Company, in accordance with the powers
authorized to them by the Board of Directors or any other member authorized by the Board of
Directors in this regard.

According to the above controls, the Managing Director and the General Manager of the
Company shall conduct the daily business of the Company pursuant to the best practices of
governance and the provisions of the Articles of Associations and the powers authorized to
them by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has authorized the executive
management in the following matters:

* Opening and closing trading accounts with brokerage companies and signing all necessary
applications for this, including the electronic trading agreement and issuing investor cards
and numbers in all financial markets inside and outside the United Arab Emirates.

= Receive the username, password, security code, and any other means of protection related
to electronic trading.

= Transferring shares from/to the broker/clearing house.

" Giving buy and sell orders, receiving order confirmations and signing them.

* View account details, request account statements, and request the transfer of credit
balances to the company’s bank accounts.

= Sign all papers or documents, including confirming the account balance.

- Statement of details of transactions with relevant parties (stakeholders) during 2024, including the
following:

There are no transactions with relavant parties.
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Fifth: Assessment of the Board of Directors

Assessment of the board, its committees, and executive management:

A- The annual assessment of the performance of the board of directors, its members and committees.
(The assessment can be carried out by the Nominations and Remuneration Committee or by the
chairman, with assistance from the board's secretary, as needed. Independent consultants may
also be engaged, if required, to help the board of directors with this process).

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee evaluated the performance of the Board of Directors,

its members, and its committees. The evaluations submitted by the committee showed the following
results:

Annual Evaluation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors operates in accordance with policies and procedures that align with governance
standards and corporate law. The Board sets clear objectives and strategies and communicates
effectively with senior management to ensure their achievement. The Board continuously monitors the
performance of the CEO and the overall performance of the company. Committees of the Board are
formed in compliance with applicable legislation.

The Board holds sufficient meetings characterized by transparency, attended by all members who
participate in decision-making based on objective collaboration in the company's interest. A clear
working charter is followed according to the laws, with full adherence to professional conduct rules and
avoidance of any actions that could harm the company’s reputation or results.

Evaluation of Board Members

Board members play active roles in setting the company’s strategic goals and working to achieve them.
They are committed to supporting the company’s values and standards and ensuring performance
oversight from the highest levels. Most members demonstrate the ability to present their views
constructively, regularly attend meetings, prepare adequately for them, and are keen on continuously
developing the necessary skills and experiences to perform their roles effectively. They exhibit flexibility
in adapting to changes and enhancing their positive aspects. Additionally, they show openness in
communicating with management, shareholders, and stakeholders, possess the ability to coordinate
with the Secretary of the Board, and effectively utilize support, as well as proactively seek information
to acquire the necessary knowledge.
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Evaluation of Board Committees

The Board Commiltees operate under a working charter that aligns with applicable laws and
regulations, functioning with high efficiency and effectiveness. Each committee has a clear
understanding of its primary activity objectives. Committee meetings are characterized by efficiency,
expertise, and organization, with leadership that encourages effectiveness and fosters continuous
communication with company members to identify any issues.

The committees adopt clear annual programs and hold regular meetings, ensuring easy access to
necessary resources and documents to perform their tasks effectively. They continue to develop their
members’ skills regularly and maintain positive engagement with negative news to enhance
transparency.

Sixth: Organizational Structure and Executive Management

- The complete organizational structure of the company:
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- A detailed statement of the senior executive employees in the first and second ranks according to
what is stated in the company’s organizational structure (according to 3-D), their jobs, dates of
appointment, and total salaries and bonuses paid, according to the following table:

Any Other Cash/In-
— Appointment | Total Salaries and Total Bonuses Kind Bonuses in
No. osition Date A‘lowanCEd Paid Paid for 2024 (in 2024 or due in the
_— 150,000/- N
1 | Managing Director 300,000/- (Board Bonus) Non
2 General Manager | July 11th, 2016 720,000/- 150,000/- Non
3 | Financial Manager | May 10%, 2001 229,500/- 60,000/- Non

Seventh: External Auditor

A. Providing an overview of the company'’s auditor to shareholders.

The parent company, Rodl and Partner, was established in 1977 in Nuremberg, Germany, and
since then it has expanded to 84 offices in 37 countries. The company provides integrated
solutions for auditing, taxes and business consulting as a leading global services company. By
establishing a new presence in the Gulf region and the Middle East and North Africa, Rodl
Middle East was created in partnership with Hikmat Mekhaimer to provide the growing region
with the aim of providing specialized advice taking into account the laws of the Middle East to
help clients grow their business internationally and constantly increase their value. The
company is headquartered in Kuwait and the regional office in Dubai. Rodl Middle East supports
clients through branches in many countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council and the countries
of the Middle East. A team of specialists in the company provides a diverse and unique set of
professional services to maximize the success of their clients using a multidisciplinary
approach. Rodl Middle East provides a range of professional product services such as auditing,
consulting, transactions, taxes and external contracting in the GCC region.
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B. Statement of fees and costs incurred for the audit or services provided by the external auditor,
according to the following table:

Name of the audit firm Rodl Middle East
Name of the partner auditor Eyad Samara
Number of years spent as the company’s external Six years
auditor

Number of years the partner auditor spent auditing the Three years
company’s accounts

Total value of audit fees for 2024 (in AED) 105,000 AED
Details and nature of other services provided by the Non
company’s auditor (if any). )
The value of fees and costs incurred for other special

services other than auditing the financial statements for Noh

2024 (in AED), if any. In the event that there are no

other fees, this shall be stated explicitly.

Statement of other services that an external auditor

other than the company auditor provided during 2024 (if Non

any}. In the event that there are no services provided by

another external auditor, this shall be stated explicitly.

C. Statement explaining the reservations that the company auditor included in the interim and annual
financial statements for 2024.

There are no reservations noted by the external auditor on the interim and annual lists for the
year 2024,
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Eighth; Internal Control System

A. Acknowledgment by the Board of its responsibility for the company’s internai control system and
for reviewing its operations and ensuring its effectiveness.

“The Board of Directors acknowledges its full responsibility for the Company's internal control

regulations, and its review and effectiveness”

B. The name, qualifications, and date of appointment of the department director.

Name: Noora Juma Saif Bin Swaif Alghfeli
Qualifications:

» Bachelor of Applied Science in Business Administration (Accounting) from Higher Colleges of
Technology — Sharjah

* One year of training experience in Internal Auditing at Talal Abu-Ghazaleh & Co. International,
Auditors — Ras Al-Khaima (2024)

Date of Appointment: 13" June, 2022

C. The name, qualifications, and date of appointment of the compliance officer.

Based on the decision of the Chairman of the Board of the Authority No. 02/R.M for the year
2024, an independent Compliance Officer will be appointed.

D. How the Internal Control Department deals with any major company issues or those disclosed in
the annual reports and accounts.

The Internal Control Department works on addressing major issues within the company by
conducting a comprehensive risk assessment and developing effective corrective action plans.
It also ensures transparency and disclosure in annual reports and accounts to enhance trust
and accountability, The company adopts the application of international internal control

standards to achieve the required objectives efficiently.
The company did not encounter any major problems during the year 2024.

E. Number of reports issued by the Internal Control Department to the Board of Directors.

The Internal Control Department released four reports during the year 2024.
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Ninth: Violations

Details of the violations committed during 2024 and an explanation of their causes, and how to address
them and avoid their recurrence in the future.

There were no violations by the company during the year 2024,

Tenth: Statement of the cash and in-kind contributions made by the company during 2024 to support local

community development and environmental preservation.

Environmental policy applied by the Company toward the environment and society:

All employees of the Company shall deal with environmental issues professionally. In order to reach a
society with little environmental impact, the Company implements the best environmental practices as
per the laws and regulations. In addition, all employees of the Company observe the following rules in
order to protect the environment, and the health and safety of members of society:

® Improve the environmental awareness among all employees.

® Continuous improvement of our environmental performance.

* Cooperate with all relevant entities to avoid environmental risks.

= Communicate seriously with stakeholders to get constructive feedback.

Cash and in-kind contributions:

There are no cash or in-kind contributions from the company during the year 2024.
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Eleventh: General Information

A. Statement of the company's share price in the market (closing price, highest price, and lowest price)
at the end of each month during the fiscal year 2024.

Highest | Lowest
Price Price

lan-24 1.04 1.14 1.04 1.10

Month | Opening Closing

Feb-24 1.05 1.26 1.01 1.01

Mar-24 1.15 1.22 1.15 315

Apr-24 L1 1.1 34, 2.1
May-24 1.14 1.14 1.14 1.14

Jun-24 1.05 1.14 1.05 1.14
Jul-24 1.05 1.14 1.05 1.14
Aug-24 1.03 1.2 1.03 1.2

Sep-24 | 1.04 104 | 104 | 1.01
Oct-24 | 1.01 1.01 | 101 | 1.01
Nov-24 | 1.08 1.08 | 1.08 | 1.08

Dec-24 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.02
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B. A comparative performance statement of the company's share relative to the general market index
and the sector index to which the company belongs during 2024.
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C. Statement of the distribution of shareholder ownership as of 31/12/2024 (individuals, companies,
governments) classified as follows: local, Gulf, Arab, and foreign.

Shareholder Percentage of Shares held %
Rating
Individual Companies Government Total
Local 62.67 9.53 0.28 72.47
Arab 17.46 4.5 0.00 21.96
Foreign 0.06 9.9 0.00 5.57
| Total 80.19 19.54 0.28 100
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D. Statement of shareholders who own 5% or more of the company's capital as of 31/12/2024
according to the following table:

No — Number of Percentage of Shares Owned
d Shares Owned in the Company’s Capital %
1 Salem Abdullah Salem Alhosani 107,068,185 29.50
2 FAB Private Bank (Suisse) SA 20,000,000 5.51
3 Majed Ahmed Omar Salem Al Karbi 21,344,566 5.88
4 Mohamed Ahmed Saeed Al Qassimi 19,265,439 5.31
Total 167,678,190 46.2

E. Statement of shareholder distribution according to the volume of ownership as of 31/12/2024
according to the following table:

No Ownership of Shares Number of Number of Percentage of Shares Owned
X (share) Shareholders | Shares Owned | from Capital %
1 Less than 50,000 5,608 20,717,960 571
From 50,000 to less than
2 500,000 264 37,526,355 10.34
From 500,000 to less than
| 3 5,000,000 45 56,280,571 15.5
4 More than 5,000,000 13 248,475,114 68.45
Total 5,930 363,000,000 100
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F. Statement detailing the procedures undertaken regarding investor relation controls, indicating the
following:

The Investor Relations page aims to enhance communication channels and encourage the
exchange of information in order to enable investors and financial analysts to reach clear
visions according to the highest standards of transparency and reliability and provide an
opportunity to obtain the latest information that confirms the extent of commitment to
transparency and the application of institutional discipline standards, where he is responsible
for managing investor relations. Mr. / Ashraf Rady, Acting Director of Investor Relations.

- Name of the investor relations officer: Ashraf Radi Ibrahim
- Contact information for the investor relations officer:
* E-mail: gic@emirates.net.ae
* Phone: 0097167681999
* Mobile: 00971508838743
= Fax: 0097167681070
- The electronic link to the Investor Relations webpage on the company’s website:

https://gic-uaq.ae/category/investors-relations/

G. Statement of the special decisions presented at the General Assembly held during 2024 and the
actions taken in relation thereto.

No special decisions were presented at the General Assembly during the year 2024.

H. Name of the rapporteur of the Board of Directors meetings and the date of his appointment.
Name: Mrs. Mary Nashed Asaad

The appointment date at the company: January 2, 1997

The appointment date as a Board Secretary: September 18, 2023

Careers and experience:

= Holds a university degree.
= Has over 20 years of experience in board meetings.

I Detailed statement of the fundamental events and important disclosures that the company
encountered during 2024,

There are no significant events that occurred with the company during the year 2024.

J. Statement of the deals made by the company with related parties during 2024 that equate to 5% or
more of the company’s capital.

There are no deals carried out by the company with related parties during 2024,
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K. Statement of the percentage of nationalization in the company by the end of 2022, 2023, and
2024:

2022 2023 2024

%20 %20 %20

L. Statement of the innovative projects and initiatives that the company has undertaken or is
currently developing during 2024.

There are no innovative and initiatives projects carried out by the company or being developed
during the year 2024.

Allah is the Arbiter of Success,

.__f’_—z_?@ﬁ

Chalr;nan FER— Head of the Audit Head of the Nomination and Head of the Internal Control
Committee Remuneration Department
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Date: 22/2/2025 Date: 22/2/202 Date: 22/2/2025 Date: 22/2/2025
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INTRODUCTION

This report, prepared by Umm Al Qaiwain General Investment Company p.s.c (the Company), provides

an overview of the important sustainability management initiatives undertaken by the company.

In compliance with the disclosure guidelines set by the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange regarding
disclosure related to the environment, society and governance of listed companies, this report for Umm
Al Qaiwain general Investments in the United Arab Emirates reveals the period from January 1, 2024
until December 31, 2024.

Our report focuses on supporting the UAE vision and international goals to provide a sustainable
business environment and urge the business community to adopt social sustainability practices, as

well as raise standards of governance.
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THE COMPANY

Umm Al Quwain General Investment Company is one of the investment companies listed on the Abu

Dhabi market that seeks to develop its investment activities.

Umm Al Qaiwain General Investment Company PJSC (previously Umm Al Quwain Cement Industries
Company PJSC) was established by Emiri Decree No. 2/82 issued on February 11, 1982 and on April 18,
2015 the Ordinary General Assembly decided to stop the production and sale of cement and focus
exclusively on investment operations and work on amending the activity, the trade name and the articles
of association. On March 19, 2016, the company’s general assembly was held and a special decision
was issued to amend the articles of the company’s articles of association to convert it into an
investment company in accordance with Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 regarding commercial companies,
provided that the approval of the competent authorities is obtained in this regard. The company obtained
approvals from the Securities and Commodities Authority to amend the activity and the trade name to
become Umm Al Quwain Public Investments Company PJSC. It also obtained the commercial license

from the Department of Economic Development - Umm Al Quwain.
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We aspire to create an exceptional investment climate by
achieving and implementing sustainability, in line with the UAE's
vision to lead globally in sustainability, best business practices,
knowledge, and entrepreneurship.

We aim to be one of the leading investment companies in the
UAE by adopting best practices in sustainability and corporate
social responsibility.

We are committed to achieving sustainability in our operational
processes by mitigating risks and enhancing governance
practices through technological and digital innovation. This
includes strengthening our responsibility toward the community,
protecting the environment, and ensuring successful operations

that benefit our shareholders.

At Umm Al Qaiwain Investments Company, we dedicate
ourselves to continuous improvement, prioritizing the interests
and aspirations of our valued shareholders both within the UAE

and internationally.

We strive for transparency by disclosing all terms and conditions
related to our activities using clear language on our website and
on the websites of the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange and the
Kuwait Stock Exchange. Recognizing our accountability to our
shareholders, we place a strong emphasis on the long-term value
of our shares and assets.

SUST
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HIGHLIGHTS

(

Net Proﬁt}

- AED25 390 353

(

Total Assets}

AL D717 003 599

[

Shareholders’ Equity}

- A Ds53 948 780

/
33%

Representation of

Female Employees

/
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OUR APPROACH

Our Company is committed to fostering positive change and contributing to a sustainable future by
aligning our business practices with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Our
approach is grounded in a holistic perspective, addressing key social, environmental, and economic
challenges. By integrating sustainability into our operations. We prioritize transparency to ensure that
our commitment to the SDGs is not just a corporate pledge but a tangible reality. We strive to be a
catalyst for positive change, working towards a world where business success is synonymous with

global well-being.
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Environmental Perspective & Q[ C

SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

As our company does not produce tangible products, our environmental perspective centers around

responsible management and sustainable financial practices.

The company has worked to educate our team on how integrating sustainability into their practices
can provide multiple long-term benefits. Sustainability is defined for each area of the company, from
investment decisions to services, highlighting the increasingly central role of sustainability in these

decisions:

1. Commitment to achieving sustainability in operational processes.

2. Ensuring the efficient and sustainable use of natural resources.

3. Fostering economic activity in the region towards a focus on natural values.

4. Monitoring progress toward environmental goals through regular audits and other environmental

initiatives.

We have implemented various measures to enhance sustainability practices, such as reducing energy

consumption, waste, and water usage.
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Environmental Perspective Q[ L )

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

As part of our commitment to environmental sustainability, the company has
implemented digital transformation in a way that helps reduce our
environmental impact. We have minimized our reliance on physical resources
such as paper and printing, significantly reducing waste. We have also
adopted virtual meeting tools, which have allowed us to decrease the need for
transportation, thus lowering carbon emissions associated with commuting.
Through these initiatives, we aim to reduce our environmental footprint and

contribute to achieving our sustainability goals.
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“We are proud of the progress we have made in advancing our
environmental responsibility initiatives and will continue to work

towards creating a more sustainable future for all shareholders”

10
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Social Perspective Q[ C

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

At Umm AlQaiwain Investments Company, we believe that corporate social responsibility is a fundamental pillar,
which is why we aim to create a positive impact within the community in which we operate. By participating in
the sustainable development of the community as a whole, we strive to provide greater added value to our

stakeholders, the market, the environment, the community, and our employees.

1. To implement this policy, we will continue to focus on the following:

2. Improving the working life of our employees by providing them with training opportunities, support, and
rewards.

3. Providing our shareholders with accurate information by publishing it on the company’s website and the
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange and Kuwait Stock Exchange websites.

4. Creating a comfortable work environment for employees to foster business growth.
Establishing a diverse workplace that offers equal opportunities and promotes fairness for all employees.

6. Enhancing the value of the organization for our shareholders.

11
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Social Perspective ¢ S gIG

EMPLOYEE WELFARE

HUMAN RESOURCES

At our company, we recognize that our employees are our most valuable asset. We are
committed to creating a safe, healthy, and supportive workplace that promotes the well-
being of our staff and strive to cultivate an environment where they can thrive and

contribute to the company'’s sustainability goals.

We are dedicated to providing competitive salaries and benefits, as well as
opportunities for professional development and career advancement. We believe in

fostering a culture of respect, diversity, and inclusion in the workplace.

We have implemented policies and procedures that promote fairness and equity in all

aspects of employment.

202
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Social Perspective & QI C

EMPLOYEE HEALTH

At Umm Al-Quwain Public Investments Company, we believe that employee health is a
fundamental part of our sustainability efforts. We are committed to providing our
employees with the resources they need to stay healthy and productive in their work

lives.

We recognize the importance of equipping our employees with the tools necessary to
maintain their well-being. To this end, we encourage open communication and bring in

activities to help reduce stress levels in the workplace.

We are dedicated to providing a safe work environment for all our employees. We have
implemented safety protocols and ensured that our staff are well-informed about all

potential hazards so they can quickly report unsafe conditions.

All our employees work full-time. We offer various incentives to keep them motivated,

such as performance-based bonuses, health insurance, and travel tickets.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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Social Perspective & Q[ C

GENDER EQUALITY

DIVERSITY & EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

While our company currently has a gender distribution of 70% male and 30% female, we are
committed to fostering a workplace that supports diversity and inclusion. Recognizing the
importance of gender equality, we strive to address any disparities and promote a more
balanced representation at all levels of our organization. Our ongoing efforts include providing
equal opportunities for professional growth and enhancing a supportive work environment

where individuals of all genders feel valued and empowered.

The company is making significant efforts to achieve gender equality in the workplace. We
believe that when gender equality is present, employees feel respected and valued, leading to
higher job satisfaction, motivation, and loyalty. This can result in increased productivity and
better performance. Additionally, gender equality can help create a more diverse workforce that
is better equipped to meet customer needs. Through our initiatives, we aspire to cultivate an

organizational culture that reflects the richness of diverse perspectives and experiences.
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Social Perspective p ggIC'

EMIRATIZATION

Emiratization is an important part of the sustainability strategy for any company operating in the United
Arab Emirates. It is a policy that encourages companies to employ and promote UAE nationals to

benefit both the company and the UAE economy as a whole.

For our company, we achieved an Emiratization rate of 20% in 2024, which aligns with the approved
Emiratization requirements in the UAE. We take pride in our contribution to the UAE government's

efforts to enhance the employment of its citizens.

15
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Social Perspective & S gIG

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

Investing in employee skills is an investment in our collective success. This year, we have reinforced
our commitment to fostering a culture of continuous improvement by offering a variety of training and
development opportunities, empowering our employees to acquire the skills needed for the changing
market demands. We take pride in continuing to support their professional growth, which contributes

to achieving the company'’s long-term goals.

16
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“By investing in our people, we are ensuring that our company

remains a leader in sustainability for years to come.”

17
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Economic Perspective & QI C

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Umm Al Qaiwain Investments Company is committed to upholding the highest standards of corporate
governance practices, adhering to the utmost integrity and transparency to ensure the protection of

shareholder rights and attract further investments.

The primary role of the Board of Directors is to protect and enhance the long-term value for
stakeholders, particularly shareholders. The board is responsible for setting the overall strategy of the
company and overseeing the executive management to ensure the implementation of the highest

corporate governance standards within the organization.

18
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Economic Perspective L

BOARD DIVERSITY

The inclusion of women on our company's Board of Directors is not just a step toward enhancing
diversity and gender equality; it is also a strategic move that positively impacts economic perspectives
and corporate governance. This reflects our commitment to promoting diversity and inclusion at the
highest levels of leadership. We recognize the importance of diverse viewpoints in driving innovation

and strategic decision-making.

19
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“As an embodiment of our unwavering commitment to
economic excellence, we prioritize diversity and inclusion,
leveraging varied perspectives to ensure sustained financial

success.’

7 &7
\

20
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2025 SUSTAINABILITY GOALS
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CONCLUSION

We strive to enhance our sustainability and corporate
social responsibility initiatives and will continue to
manage and implement existing businesses in a broader
context in response to an effective social, environmental
and economic environment to achieve improved

operational results while minimizing negative societal

impacts and emphasizing positive societal impacts.

22
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